
CLEARFIELD PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
March 1, 2006 

7:00 P.M. - Regular Session 
 

PRESIDING:   Victor Olson   Chairman 
 
PRESENT:   Cornell Griffeth  Commissioner 

Paul Poorte   Commissioner 
Mark Shepherd  Commissioner 
Matt Hartvigsen  Commissioner 
Mark Bottema   Alternate Commissioner 
Doyle Sprague   Council Liaison 

 
EXCUSED:   Robert Osborne  Commissioner 

Ligia MuZoz   Commissioner 
Scott Hodge   Director Public Works 

 
STAFF PRESENT:  Larry Waggoner  City Attorney 

Kay Chandler   City Manager 
Kent Bush   Planning/Zoning Administrator 
Christine Horrocks  Building Permits Specialist 
Gregg Benson   Planning/Zoning GIS Specialist 

 
VISITORS:   Tyler Bottema, Wayne Cushing, Nick Morrell, Matthew Harris,  
    Paul Taylor, Darren Carpenter, Vern Phipps, Randy Morrell, Blair 

Wall, Ken Senteney, Kathryn Murray 
 
Chairman Olson acknowledged the presence of Boy Scouts Nick Morrell, Matthew Harris and 
Tyler Bottema.  
 
Pledge of Allegiance was led by Scout Tyler Bottema 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES FROM FEBRUARY 15, 2006, PLANNING COMMISSION 
MEETING 
 
Commissioner Shepherd moved to approve the minutes of February 15, 2006 as submitted. 
Seconded by Commissioner Hartvigsen.  All Voting AYE. 
 
 
PUBLIC HEARING TO AMEND SAHCO SUBDIVISION 
 
Chairman Olson read the public hearing notice and declared the public hearing open at 7:03 P.M. 
 
Wayne Cushing representing SAHCO said they are creating Lot 3.  The lot line for Lot 1 will 
now follow the road on the east side of Lot 1.  Commissioner Shepherd asked what they would 
be doing with Lot 3.  Mr. Cushing said Lot 3 was separated at loan time for future development.  



Clearfield City Planning Commission Minutes March 1, 2006                                                                         Page 2 
 
They are not currently ready to develop the property, however they noticed at the county the lot 
split had not been recorded.   
 
FOR: 
None 
 
AGAINST: 
None 
 
Commissioner Shepherd moved to close the Public Hearing at 7:05 P.M.  Seconded by 
Commissioner Poorte.  All Voting AYE. 
 
Commissioner Poorte moved to approve this request for a subdivision amendment to 
SAHCO Subdivision located at approximately 200 East 700 South.  Seconded by 
Commissioner Griffeth.  All Voting AYE. 
 
 
SUBDIVISION APPROVAL FOR SAHCO SUBDIVISION AMENDED 
 
Chairman Olson stated this request is for approval of the amended SAHCO subdivision. 
 
Commissioner Poorte moved to approve this request for subdivision approval for SAHCO 
Subdivision Amended at 200 East 700 South. Seconded by Commissioner Shepherd.  All 
Voting AYE. 
 
 
SITE PLAN APPROVAL FOR HONEST 1 AUTO AT 975 EAST 700 SOUTH 
 
Blair Wall, representing Wasatch West, said this is an auto repair business similar to a Tunex.  
There would not be any major engine replacements.  Chairman Olson commented that there had 
been some problems with the signage.  He was told the issue was resolved.  The storm water 
retention is existing. The fence will be screened next to residential property.  The lighting will be 
on the building on the west side.  Commissioner Hartvigsen asked what would happen to the 
property in the rear.  Mr. Wall said the rear of lot will be left natural; they plan to keep weeds 
down.    
 
Commissioner Shepherd moved to approve this request for site plan approval with signage 
for an Honest B 1 Auto at 975 East 700 South.  Seconded by Commissioner Griffeth.  All 
Voting AYE. 
 
 



Clearfield City Planning Commission Minutes March 1, 2006                                                                         Page 3 
 
SITE PLAN APPROVAL FOR AUTOZONE AT 816 WEST 1700 SOUTH 
 
Paul Taylor with JUB was representing AutoZone.  Chairman Olson asked if this would be a 
duplicate of the new AutoZone on 700 South.  Mr. Taylor said it would be, except the site is a 
little different.   Gregg Benson said the monument sign is a bit higher than the one on 700 South. 
Chairman Olson asked if it would connect in the road in the back.  Kent Bush explained the 
AutoZone will have about 20’ of landscaping at the rear to match America First Credit Union and 
the rear roadway will connect to America First and Taco Time.  
 
Commissioner Poorte moved to approve this request for Site Plan Approval with signage 
for AutoZone at 816 West 1700 South.  Seconded by Commissioner Bottema.  All Voting 
AYE. 
 
 
APPROVAL OF GENERAL PLAN WORDING AND MAP AMENDMENTS 
 
Kent Bush said before the amendments to the General Plan are sent to the City Council, the 
Planning Commission needs make sure the revised map and the wording is as they intended.     
The changes to the map were made as requested at the last meeting: 

1. Commercial up to the power line corridor on 1000 West at that point it will be 
manufacturing.   

2. On 300 North and 1000 West, the Weatherston parcel and the three parcels owned by Dan 
Gardner have been changed to residential.   

 
The wording in the General Plan needs to say that the referenced parcels on 300 North and 1000 
West are residential type use and when the property is re-zoned it will be required to have an SP 
overlay.  Mr. Bush noted that in the first meeting with Gardner Development they were told the 
property would need to be zoned R-1 Open unless it was housing for the elderly.  Gardner 
Development said they market toward the older population but it is not exclusive.  For the density 
of 6-6.5 that they would like, it will be suggested they re-zone the property to R-2 (SP).  The R-2 
zone is less dense than R-3, but gives them the density they need, and the SP overlay gives the 
City some design control.   This type of community is popular in other states.  With fair housing 
practices they can limit the number of people living in the home by the restrictive covenants, but 
you can not designate an age requirement.  
 
Kent Bush said page 10 of the General Plan talks about manufacturing land uses. Mr. Bush stated 
that he originally had this sentence as the addition to the General Plan, “It is the intent of this plan 
to rezone large parcels for manufacturing use and not individual lots and that the uses near 
residential areas not be detrimental to those residents.”  He mentioned that some individual lots 
on west 700 South toward the Freeport Center were recently rezoned to M-1 and it hasn’t been a 
problem, because those uses have not been detrimental to the residences.  He has an alternate 
statement, “It is the intent of this plan to rezone large parcels for manufacturing use.  Individual 
lots may be rezoned if the intended use is not detrimental to any nearby residential areas.” 



Clearfield City Planning Commission Minutes March 1, 2006                                                                         Page 4 
 
It would leave it up to the discretion of the Planning Commission and City Council to determine 
if the use would be detrimental.  Chairman Olson asked if it would bring up the question of what 
is the definition of detrimental.   
 
Mr. Bush mentioned that there are parcels along 700 South and on South Main street that are 
used as residential.  There was some discussion as to the necessity of the added statement.  There 
was concern with the smaller parcels on 700 South, because they would not be considered 
“large”.   Kent Bush stated that the purpose of the zoning ordinance is to promote the health, 
safety, and welfare of the citizens of Clearfield City.   He continued there will always be words  
open for interpretation.  Commissioner Hartvigsen said he is okay with the statement.  
Commissioner Poorte agreed and said the Planning Commission has the authority to determine 
what is detrimental.  Larry Waggoner suggested they change the word “intent” to “preference”.    
 
Commissioner Shepherd moved to change the wording on page 10 of the General Plan in 
the manufacturing uses to read at the end of the sentence, “It is the preference of this plan 
to rezone large parcels for manufacturing use.  Individual lots may be rezoned if the 
intended use is not detrimental to the health, safety and general welfare of Clearfield 
citizens.”  Also that we change on the General Plan as we noted in our last meeting and as 
we discussed here that on the 300 North and 1000 West that as we noted it would be an SP 
overlay, that it be removed to just say residential at this point in time.  There were some 
questions on the motion as to the property on 300 North and 1000 West because discussion had 
determined the property should be rezoned to R-2(SP).   It was explained that at this time the 
General Plan is to state the land use that is to be decided, the developer will need to apply for a 
rezone.  Seconded by Commissioner Poorte.  All Voting AYE. 
 
 
DISCUSSION - ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

 
Kent Bush said at the last meeting he handed out a copy of an ordinance from Provo City stating 
single family residences had to be owner occupied.  Mr. Bush asked if anyone had any 
comments.  He mentioned that the ordinance also talks about parking requirements.  There was 
discussion on the number of parking spaces, and it was determined that our current requirements 
of two parking spaces per residence is adequate.  If a single family residence has the basement 
rented, then an additional two parking spaces required, because the intended use of the residence 
changed.   There can be a problem with parking on the street because there is not adequate 
parking for all vehicles.  Commissioner Shepherd was concerned with enforcement of the 
ordinance.  Larry Waggoner said the city now has code enforcement officers for this purpose.   
 
Kent Bush said another thing we need to consider are some single family areas where the zoning 
is R-2 or R-3.  We would like to clean up the zoning and make it consistent with the use.   
 
Title 12, the ordinance after zoning, has a lot of things that need to be changed.  Last year we 
took out the chapter of small subdivisions; however, there are other changes that need to be 
made.  Some items are repetitious, some aren’t used and some we do use that should be in the 
ordinance.   



Clearfield City Planning Commission Minutes March 1, 2006                                                                         Page 5 
 
Kent Bush asked the commissioners to review Title 12 because the Planning Commission will be 
making changes to it. 
 
Chairman Olson asked to discuss again the rezoning of R-1, R-2 and R-3.  He asked how many 
properties do we have to look at.  Kent Bush said they have been tracked through the water 
department.  Gregg Benson has a map showing the rental properties in the City.  There are about 
25 individual lots that are not zoned as to use.  If the property is zoned R-1 and has two units 
since 1978, it is grandfathered.   Kent Bush said this ordinance would not allow basement rental 
in a single family residence, unless one unit is owner occupied.  The property owner would be 
given a certain amount of time to come into compliance.  Provo City gave their citizens three 
years.   
 
Kent Bush said they are considering a type of registration for rental properties.  It would be 
similar to a business license, and the home/property owner will need to register the property as 
rental, including a single family home with one renter.  If an individual owns three or more rental 
properties they need a business license.  Chairman Olson asked if this was a common practice in 
the area.  Kay Chandler said that Ogden and Provo have a plan with owner rental.  Kent Bush 
said it has been tried and tested in the court.   
 
Mr. Bush told the commissioners about an article he read where Bluffdale City lost a land fight.  
A developer with 4,000 acres wanted to develop a mixed use area with some apartments and 
some single family residences.  Bluffdale City would not allow him to do so, so he petitioned to 
de-annex from Bluffdale City.  So the development will be there, it will just be a part of Salt Lake 
County.   
 
PLANNING COMMISSIONER=S MINUTE 
 
Chairman Olson - Nothing 
 
Commissioner Griffeth - Nothing 
 
Commissioner Poorte - Nothing 
 
Commissioner Shepherd - Nothing 
 
Commissioner Hartvigsen - Nothing 
 
Commissioner Bottema - Nothing 
 
Councilmember Sprague - Nothing 
 
Staff - Kay Chandler said he spent the afternoon with UTA.  The commuter rail is coming and 
there will be station in Clearfield.  He told the Planning Commission the concept of what the City 
wants in regard to the development of the 70 acres owned by UTA needs to be in place by 
ordinance as soon as possible.  



Clearfield City Planning Commission Minutes March 1, 2006                                                                         Page 6 
 
 
Chairman Olson recommended having a work session.  The commissioners decided to meet at 
6:00 before the next meeting.  Kent Bush said on the General Plan the UTA property is shown as 
commercial/residential.  He told the commissioners he would be going to a conference next week 
and would be visiting TOD sites in Denver.  Also, Utah APA has a website where questions can 
be asked to other city planners about ordinances.  Mr. Bush said he would go on the website and 
check with other cities to see what ordinances they have regarding TODs.     
 
There being no further business to come before the Planning Commission, Commissioner 
Poorte moved to adjourn at 8:14 P.M.  Seconded by Commissioner Shepherd.  All Voting 
AYE. 
 


